COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

RICHARD PERALES,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Appellant 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
A. The State's evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance
Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error
1. Did the court err by failing to give the following proposed instruction by the defense?
A person "renders criminal assistance" if, with intent to prevent, hinder, or delay the apprehension or prosecution of another person who he knows is being sought by law enforcement officials for the cornmission of a crime, he harbors or conceals such person. There must be an affirmative act or affirmative statement by the accused which sheds light on the nature of the affirmative act or statements relating to the harbor or concealment of the person sought. (Assignment of Error A)
2. Was the evidence insufficient to support the first degree rendering criminal assistance conviction when the State failed to show an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales that he "harbored or concealed" the person being sought for the commission of first degree murder? (Assignment of Error A)
II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
III ADOLIMENT

A. The State's evidence was insufficient to support to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance because it failed to show an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales that he "harbored or concealed" Marcus Torres, who was being sought for the commission of first degree murder
IV. CONCLUSION9
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Table of Cases
State v. Budik, 173 Wn.2d 727, 272 P.3d 816 (2012)
State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)6, 9
Statutes
RCW 9A.76.0507, 8
RCW 9A.76.0706

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. The State's evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Did the court err by failing to give the following proposed instruction by the defense?

A person "renders criminal assistance" if, with intent to prevent, hinder, or delay the apprehension or prosecution of another person who he knows is being sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of a crime, he harbors or conceals such person. There must be an affirmative act or affirmative statement by the accused which sheds light on the nature of the affirmative act or statements relating to the harbor or concealment of the person sought. (CP 63). (Assignment of Error A).

2. Was the evidence insufficient to support the first degree rendering criminal assistance conviction when the State failed to show an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales that he "harbored or concealed" the person being sought for the commission of first degree murder? (Assignment of Error A).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Perales was charged by information with one count of first degree rendering criminal assistance:

On, about, during or between March 31, 2012, and April 19, 2012, in the State of Washington,

with intent to prevent, hinder or delay the apprehension or prosecution of Marcus Anthony Torres, a person whom you knew committed a crime or juvenile offense or was being sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of the crime or juvenile offense of First Degree Murder, a Class A felony, you harbored or concealed that person. (CP 5).

The case proceeded to jury trial.

Rose Cruz-Torres, the mother of Marcus Torres, lived in a home at 121 Arrowsmith Road outside Sunnyside, Washington, with her boyfriend, Richard Perales. (12/4/12 RP 418). Christian Capener was the owner of the property at 121 Arrowsmith Road. (*Id.* at 419). He rented basement rooms to Ms. Torres and Mr. Perales, Marcus Torres, and Isaac Cruz, another son of Ms. Torres. (*Id.* at 423-24). Mr. Capener did not own the adjoining orchard, which was adjacent to the home. (*Id.* at 423).

In March 2012, Detective Sam Perrault was investigating a homicide involving Manuel Coria. (12/4/12 RP 417). He had five different suspects, including Marcus Torres and Isaac Cruz. (*Id.* at 418). The detective could not find Mr. Torres, but heard he was living in hotels around the Sunnyside area and knew that his mother and brother were living at 121 Arrowsmith Road. (*Id.*).

Detective Robert Engquist had contact with Mr. Perales on April 19, 2012, and on several occasions before that day as well. (12/4/12 RP 431-32). The detective told Mr. Perales he was looking for Marcus Torres in connection with a homicide and could himself be arrested for harboring and concealing Mr. Torres. (*Id.* at 433-34). Deputy William Boyer contacted Mr. Perales on April 17, 2012, and told him he was looking for Mr. Torres for first degree murder. (*Id.* at 487).

Marcus Torres was arrested without incident on April 19, 2012. (12/5/12 RP 488-89, 492). Deputy Boyer received information that day Marcus Torres had been seen at 121 Arrowsmith Road a couple of hours before. (*Id.* at 489). The deputy as well as other law enforcement officers went to the address intending to arrest Mr. Torres. (*Id.*). He was some 200-300 yards east of 121 Arrowsmith Road in an unmarked vehicle. Rose Cruz Torres and Mr. Perales were moving about the property. (*Id.* at 489-90). Some twenty minutes into the planning phase of the police operation, Deputy Robert Tucker advised he had been seen by Mr. Perales. (*Id.* at 490).

At that point, Deputy Boyer instructed all units in the area to move in and contain the property. Driving to a location north and

west of the residence, he observed Deputy Tucker taking Mr. Perales into custody. (*Id.* at 491). Mr. Torres was also eventually apprehended at the front of the south side of the house when instructed to do so by other officers telling him to give himself up on a loud speaker system. (*Id.* at 492).

Mr. Torres had apparently been hiding out in a hole covered by an apple bin in the orchard some 30-40 yards from the 121 Arrowsmith Road home. (12/4/12 RP 436). Officers inspecting the empty hole saw a sleeping bag, a bag from McDonald's, some unopened beers, a partial pack of cigarettes, and a newspaper from April 18. (*Id.* at 465).

Deputy Engquist said Mr. Perales told him he had been running errands on April 18, 2013. (12/4/12 RP 437). He left the house about 8 p.m. and came back around 10:30 p.m. (*Id.*). Mr. Perales returned with some hamburgers from Burger Ranch, a sixpack of 16-ounce Millers, and a six-pack of 16-ounce Busch Light beer. (*Id.*). When he walked into the house, he saw Marcus Torres there with his girlfriend. (*Id.*). Mr. Perales offered some beers and chatted with him upstairs. (*Id.* at 438).

The detective asked Mr. Perales how long he had been aware that Mr. Torres had been hiding in a hole in the orchard with

an apple bin covering it. (12/4/12 RP 438). He told Detective Engquist he was not aware of it. (*Id.*).

The court dismissed an alternative for the charge that Mr. Perales knew Mr. Torres committed a crime. (12/5/12 RP 498). The court also narrowed the time frame for the charge to April 18 and 19, 2012. (*Id.*). Mr. Perales was not allowed to argue in closing that he was required to do some affirmative act in order to be convicted. (*Id.* at 505). It had declined to give a defense proposed instruction which stated in relevant part:

... There must be an affirmative act or affirmative statement by the accused which sheds light on the nature of the affirmative act or statement relating to the harbor or concealment of the person sought. (CP 63).

Mr. Perales excepted to the failure to give this instruction. (12/5/12 RP 503).

The jury convicted him as charged. (CP 83, 95). This appeal follows.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The State's evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance because it failed to show an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales that he

an apple bin covering it. (12/4/12 RP 438). He told Detective Engquist he was not aware of it. (*Id.*).

The court dismissed an alternative for the charge that Mr. Perales knew Mr. Torres committed a crime. (12/5/12 RP 498). The court also narrowed the time frame for the charge to April 18 and 19, 2012. (*Id.*). Mr. Perales was not allowed to argue in closing that he was required to do some affirmative act in order to be convicted. (*Id.* at 505). It had declined to give defense proposed instruction 6 which stated in relevant part:

... There must be an affirmative act or affirmative statement by the accused which sheds light on the nature of the affirmative act or statement relating to the harbor or concealment of the person sought. (CP 63).

Mr. Perales excepted to the failure to give this instruction. (12/5/12 RP 503).

The jury convicted him as charged. (CP 83, 95). This appeal follows.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The State's evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance because it failed to show an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales that he

"harbored or concealed" Marcus Torres, who was being sought for the commission of first degree murder.

In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a conviction, the issue is whether, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). To determine whether the State has produced sufficient evidence to prove each element of the offense, the court must begin by interpreting the underlying criminal statute, *i.e.*, RCW 9A.76.070. *State v. Budik*, 173 Wn.2d 727, 272 P.3d 816 (2012).

Mr. Perales was convicted of first degree rendering criminal assistance under RCW 9A.76.070. A person violates this statute when he renders criminal assistance to another person who has committed or is being sought for first degree murder. *Id.* The term "renders criminal assistance" is defined by RCW 9A.76.050, which provides that a person "renders criminal assistance" if, with intent to prevent, hinder, or delay the apprehension or prosecution of another person who he knows is being sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of a crime, he (1) harbors or conceals such person; or (2) warns such person of impending discovery or

apprehension; or (3) provides such person with money, transportation, disguise, or other means of avoiding discovery or apprehension; or (4) prevents or obstructs, by use of force, deception, or threat, anyone from performing an act that might aid in the discovery or apprehension of such person; or (5) conceals, alters, or destroys any physical evidence that might aid in the discovery or apprehension of such person; or (6) provides such person with a weapon. The court's instruction 6 stated the pertinent parts of RCW 9A.76.050 and further provided "[h]arbor means to give shelter or refuge to somebody" and "[c]onceal means to place out of sight." (CP 73).

Although the *Budik* court was concerned only with the fourth action; *i.e.*, preventing or obstructing by use of force, deception, or threat, anyone from performing an act that might aid in the discovery or apprehension of a sought person; it nonetheless stated that "the five other means of rendering criminal assistance require some affirmative act or statement, be it harboring or concealing the person sought, RCW 9A.76.050(1); warning the person sought of pending discovery, RCW 9A.76.050(2); providing a person sought money, a disguise, transportation, or other means of awarding discovery, RCW 9A.76.050(3); concealing, altering, or

destroying physical evidence that would aid in discovery, RCW 9A.76.050(5); or providing the person sought with a weapon, RCW 9A.76.050(6)." 173 Wn.2d at 735-36. From this premise, the *Budik* court inferred the legislature similarly intended to require an affirmative act or statement in order to violate RCW 9A.76.050(4). *Id.* at 736.

After the defense moved to dismiss based on the State's failure of proof to show any affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales, the court denied the motion because it opined that *Budik* applied only to the fourth prong of the rendering criminal assistance statute, not the "harbor or conceal" prong. (12/5/12 RP 499). But the court was incorrect as *Budik* clearly states that the court reached the result it did because the five other means required an affirmative act or statement and the inference was that the requirement also applied to the fourth prong. And "harbor or conceal" is one of those five other means. 173 Wn.2d at 735-36. Thus, the court also erred by failing to give the defense's proposed instruction requiring such an affirmative act or statement. *Id*.

The State produced no evidence of such an affirmative act or statement by Mr. Perales indicating an effort to harbor or conceal Marcus Torres. *Budik*, 173 Wn.2d at 737-38. The mere failure of

Mr. Perales to say anything to law enforcement is thus insufficient to support the conviction for first degree rendering criminal assistance beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 740; *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 220-21. The conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Perales respectfully urges this Court to reverse his conviction of first degree rendering criminal assistance and dismiss the charge.