I.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

Appellant makes one assignments of error with two issues 

pertaining to that assigned error.  These can be summarized as follows; 

1. There was insufficient evidence to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that appellant was guilty first degree 

rendering criminal assistance; 

A. Did the court err when it did not give appellants 

proposed jury instruction regarding rendering criminal 

assistance?  

B. Was the evidence presented insufficient where the 

State failed to show an affirmative act or statement on 

the part of Appellant demonstrating that he had 

“harbored or concealed” a person being sought of first 

degree murder?  

 

B. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. There was sufficient evidence to support the conviction. 

2. The courts decision to not give the jury instruction was 

proper.  

 

II.   STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The substantive and procedural facts have been adequately set 

forth in appellants brief therefore, pursuant to RAP 10.3(b); the State shall 

not set forth an additional facts section.   The State shall refer to the record 

as needed.   

III.  ARGUMENT. 

 

The actions of the trial court were well within its discretion, were 

based on the rules of evidence and case law. 
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RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION 1 – A Sufficiency  

Appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his 

conviction for rendering criminal assistance in the first degree.   In 

reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this court will 

view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to determine 

whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements 

of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 

216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 

319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)). A defendant claiming 

insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable 

inferences drawn in favor of the State, with circumstantial evidence and 

direct evidence considered equally reliable. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 

192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 

618 P.2d 99 (1980).     

In this case the fact that the elements of a crime can be established 

by both direct and circumstantial evidence is of great importance.   See, 

State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986).   The 

introduction and use of direct and circumstantial evidence are equal; one is 

no less valuable than the other.  There is sufficient evidence to support the 

conviction if a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime 

proven beyond a reasonable doubt.  Circumstantial evidence and direct 
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evidence are equally reliable. State v. Dejarlais, 88 Wash. App. 297, 305, 

944 P.2d 1110 (1997), aff'd, 136 Wash.2d 939, 969 P.2d 90 (1998).  

In this case, as is the fact with many cases, the defendant 

exercised his right to not testify therefore the testimony of the officers is 

unrefuted.  RP 506.   The totality of the testimony in this case was fairly 

minimal but the record indicated that Appellant and the mother of 

Marcus Torres, the person to whom Appellant rendered aid, lived at 121 

Aerosmith Rd. but Marcus Torres did not reside there. RP 419-21.   This 

is critical because the theory of the Appellant at trial was that he lived in 

the home and/or the Appellant was not required to call the police if 

Appellant was there.   Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact 

and are not subject to review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 

P.2d 850 (1990).  "It is axiomatic in criminal trials that the prosecution 

bears the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the identity 

of the accused as the person who committed the offense." State v. Hill, 

83 Wn.2d 558, 560, 520 P.2d 618 (1974).   Here the State presented 

evidence that there was an ongoing investigation and search for Marcus 

Torres.  That the roommate of the Appellant was the mother of Marcus 

Torres, a person wanted for first degree murder.  RP 420-21.  The 

testimony was that the day before Appellant was arrested one other 

suspect and the brother of Marcus Torres was arrest at this very 
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residence.  RP 419   Appellant states that testimony was that Marcus 

Torres lived at this address, however there was a divergence in the 

testimony regarding that. (Appellants Brief at 2)  Det. Perrault testified 

that he believed that Marcus was staying at the home “occasionally” but 

his report stated that the “basement” of the residence was rented to Rose, 

Marcus and Isaac Torres and the Appellant.  RP 423-4.  Det. Steadman 

testified that the address was one the police had for Marcus Torres.  RP 

451-2    

The testimony was that there was a hole found under an apple 

crate located in the orchard yards away from Appellant’s home, that in 

the hole there was a sleeping bag, a bag from McDonald’s some 

unopened beer...and a newspaper from the 18
th
 (of) April”  RP 464   The 

closest McDonald’s was approximately five miles away.  (RP 465)   At 

the time Appellant was arrested and made his statement to the officers 

he stated that he had recently purchased food from another fast food 

location and had purchased two different types of beer.  The testimony 

was that Marcus Torres was arrested from the interior of the residence 

occupied by Appellant and Ms. Torres.  There was testimony that at 

times while this location was under surveillance an individual was seen 

coming to a door area and who Ms. Torres and the Appellant both had 

conversations with.   There was testimony that this “foxhole” was within 
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sight of the residence and that there was a “very distinct trial” from the 

apple bin hideout to Appellant’s home, a trail that so distinct the officer 

who took the appellant into custody followed when he approached 

Appellant.  RP 464  It was also clear that Appellant had been warned 

about the consequences of helping Marcus Torres and that Torres was 

being sought for murder by the police.  

Obviously the jury was allowed to infer from this testimony that 

the Appellant had “rendered criminal assistance” to Marcus Torres.   

One of the means of “infer” is “to derive as a conclusion from facts or 

premises <we see smoke and infer fire. – L.A. White>  (Merriam –

Webster’s Online dictionary)  Once again direct and circumstantial 

evidence are given the same weight.  CP 78 

The jury was allowed to infer that when a person claims to live in 

a home but is not found there on more than one occasion but eventually 

arrested inside that home, the home of Appellant, and from that home 

there is a defined trail to a “foxhole” covered by an apple crate that is 

within sight of that persons home and in that hole is a sleeping bag, food 

wrappers, beer and a newspaper that was only one day old, that Marcus 

Torres was the person who had been hiding there.  There were able to 

infer that the person who was spoken to by Appellant inside this 

residence was Marcus Torres.   That the Appellant who had just come 
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home with hamburgers and beer and who admitted that he had given him 

alcohol in the residence after numerous warnings about the 

consequences of such action, the boyfriend of Marcus Torres’ Mother – 

was in fact “rendering criminal assistance.”    

The totality of the evidence did demonstrate beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Perales with “intent to prevent, hinder, or delay the 

apprehension or prosecution of another person who he knows is being 

sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of a crime, 

[Perales] harbors or conceal(ed) [Marcus Torres]  CP 73    

The State would posit that the court in State v. Budik, 173 Wn.2d 

727, 272 P.3d 816 (Wash. 2012) would agree with the trial court that 

counsel was given the case “too broad a reading.”  RCW 9A.76.070 has 

six subsections.  The court in Budik states at 734-5, “In this case we are 

solely concerned with the fourth action—” [p]revent[ing] or 

obstruct[ing], by use of force, deception, or threat, anyone from 

performing an act that might aid in the discovery or apprehension" of a 

person sought by law enforcement officials....In interpreting this 

portion of the statute, we look to the statutory scheme as a whole.” 

(Emphasis mine.)    The trial judge in this case took note of the 

Conclusion of Budik, makes it explicitly clear that the court was ruling 

on only one specific subsection of the statute and the trial judge took 
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note of that, “JUDGE: Okay and just so in that same regard the 

conclusion and the majority opinion says we hold that in order to prove 

that a defendant has rendered criminal assistance by use of deception 

that State must show that the defendant has made some affirmative act 

or statement.” RP 501.  The court in Budik stated in that Conclusion: 

 We hold that in order to prove that a defendant has 

rendered criminal assistance " by use of ... deception," 

RCW 9A.76.050(4), the State must show that the 

defendant has made some affirmative act or statement; 

mere false disavowal of knowledge is insufficient to sustain 

a conviction for rendering criminal assistance. There is no 

evidence that Budik did more than falsely deny knowledge 

of the identities of the assailants who had shot him and shot 

and killed his companion. Accordingly, insufficient 

evidence supported Budik's conviction. We reverse the 

Court of Appeals and vacate Budik's conviction.  

(Emphasis mine.)  

 

The trial court ruled as follows; 

The Burdick (It should be noted that the case name “Budik” 

is spelled numerous ways throughout this verbatim report 

of proceedings.) rule if you would doesn’t apply to this 

particular prong of the statute. So I think it’s sufficient in 

this instance looking at the evidence point most favorable 

to the nonmoving party, to the State, to I think that there is 

sufficient evidence for this matter to go forward and go 

forward, so I am denying the motion to dismiss. RP 499 

... 

JUDGE: Okay and just so in that same regard the 

conclusion and the majority opinion says we hold that in 

order to prove that a defendant has rendered criminal 

assistance by use of deception that State must show that the 

defendant has made some affirmative act or statement. 

THERRIEN: Oh you’re just saying that’s what I’ve said is 

dicta? 
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JUDGE: Well this is I mean this is --- 

THERRIEN: Yea okay. 

JUDGE: What they sum up, I don’t think I think that 

inherent in the issue of concealing and harboring is the 

issue of you know an affirmative act. 

THERRIEN: Okay. 

JUDGE: You know just having you know somebody stay 

in your barn and you don’t know he’s there kind of thing. 

So but that’s not harboring somebody. Anyway do you 

want I my strong preference now would be to go through 

the jury instructions I know I gave them to you yesterday, 

have you had a sufficient time to look at them? 

RP 501-2 

... 

JUDGE: So, but I your exceptions are noted I think that my 

reading of Butick, you know I don’t read it as broadly as 

you do, I think that the definition of harboring and 

concealing is and with the necessity that proof be that Mr. 

Perales acted intentionally to prevent hinder or delay the 

apprehension or prosecution of Mr. Torres.   Inherent in all 

that is that he acted knowingly intentionally concealing the 

that giving shelter or refuge to somebody or to place 

RP 504 

 

The court was correct in making this determination.  The State 

was not required to show the added step that Appellant argued below, 

and now argues here, was necessary to prove the commission of this 

crime.  In Budik there was no act on the part of the defendant.  In that 

case there was a disavowal by Budik about knowing the identity of a 

person or persons involved in a shooting and nothing more.  Budik is 

therefore both legally and factually distinguishable from this case.    

While clearly the State was not required to prove this crime under the 

subsection Perales was charged under this court can take note of the fact 
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that the State did prove that Appellant did make an “affirmative act” 

when he harbored Torres. By his own admission he gave him beer on the 

day of the arrest.  While this may appear to be a de minimis violation in 

and of itself it was an act and coupled with the additional circumstantial 

evidence presented regarding the path, the food and shelter in the 

foxhole near Perales home it clearly supports the verdict in this case.   

Appellant intended to do what he did, criminal intent may be inferred